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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF VERMONT
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
v.
KENNETH L. MILLER

)
)
)
)
)

Crim. No.: 2:11-cr-161-1

GOVERNMENT’S RESPONSE IN OPPOSITION TO
DEFENDANT’S MOTION TO DISMISS FOR FAILURE TO STATE AN OFFENSE OR,
IN THE ALTERNATIVE, FOR IMPROPER VENUE

The United States of America, by and through its attorney, Tristram J. Coffin, United
States Attorney for the District of Vermont, hereby responds in opposition to defendant Kenneth
Miller’s Motion to Dismiss for Failure to State an Offense or in the Alternative, for Improper
Venue. As set forth below, the indictment appropriately charges Kenneth Miller with aiding and
abetting Lisa Miller in the international parental kidnapping of IMJ with the intent to frustrate
Janet Jenkins’s parental rights. Because of the crime’s substantial contacts with Vermont, the
indictment adequately and properly asserts venue in Vermont. The Court should deny defendant
Miller’s motions.
I.

FACTS
The evidence at trial will establish the following facts, among others, asserted in the

criminal complaint in this matter:
In December 2000, after an almost two-year engagement, Lisa Miller entered into a civil
union in Vermont with Janet Jenkins. In April 2002, Lisa Miller gave birth to IMJ, during the
period of Miller and Jenkins’s civil union, with Jenkins and Miller sharing as parents. Miller
and Jenkins’s relationship disintegrated in the fall of 2003, and Lisa Miller and IMJ moved from
Vermont, where they had lived with Janet Jenkins, to Virginia. In November 2003, Lisa Miller

Case 2:11-cr-00161-wks Document 24

Filed 03/14/12 Page 2 of 22

filed in Rutland, Vermont Family Court to dissolve the civil union with Janet Jenkins. Litigation
to determine parental rights and responsibilities with respect to IMJ began in that court in 2004.
By as early as June 2004, the court had assigned rights to parent-child contact – visitation rights
– to Janet Jenkins. By mid-2009, Janet Jenkins retained her court-ordered parental rights
although Lisa Miller had repeatedly failed to honor them by not allowing visits between Jenkins
and IMJ. Indeed, in August 2009, Jenkins filed a motion to transfer primary custody from Miller
to Jenkins in light of Miller’s repeated contempts of the Rutland Family Court’s orders. In the
early morning hours of September 22, 2009, Miller took IMJ from the United States into Canada
and ultimately to Nicaragua. On November 20, 2009, when Lisa Miller’s removal of IMJ from
the reach of the Vermont court became apparent, the Rutland Family Court assigned sole
physical and legal custody of IMJ to Jenkins, finding that Lisa Miller had willfully interfered
with Jenkins’s visitation rights.
Lisa Miller did not act alone when she removed IMJ from the United States with the
intent to obstruct Jenkins’s parental rights. Kenneth Miller (no relation to Lisa Miller), a
resident of Virginia at the time, acted to assist Lisa Miller in her crime. Kenneth Miller
contacted a fellow Mennonite pastor in Canada to arrange for him to meet Lisa Miller at a hotel
in Canada once she left the United States and to take Lisa Miller and IMJ from the hotel to the
airport for their flight to Nicaragua. Kenneth Miller also contacted another Mennonite in
Nicaragua, Timothy Miller (no relation to either Lisa Miller or Kenneth Miller), to arrange for
him to pick Lisa Miller up at the airport when she arrived in Nicaragua and ultimately, to
purchase the airline tickets that Lisa Miller and IMJ would need to travel from Canada to
Nicaragua. Kenneth Miller instructed Timothy Miller that Lisa Miller and IMJ should not land

-2-

Case 2:11-cr-00161-wks Document 24

Filed 03/14/12 Page 3 of 22

in the United States during the course of the their trip, and advised that Timothy Miller would be
able to recognize Lisa Miller and IMJ at the airport because, although they did not belong to the
Mennonite community, they would be wearing traditional Mennonite clothing. Kenneth Miller
also stayed in telephone contact with a cellular telephone registered to Response Unlimited, a
company based in Waynesboro, Virginia, as that telephone traveled from Virginia to Buffalo,
New York and back. The timing of the trip corresponds directly to the time of Lisa Miller’s
entrance into Canada across the Rainbow Bridge between Buffalo, New York and Ontario,
Canada, according to records obtained from Canadian border officials. Email records show that
Kenneth Miller remained in contact with the owner of Response Unlimited and Timothy Miller
after Lisa Miller’s kidnapping of her daughter and that his correspondence with both included
exchanges regarding Lisa Miller. Lisa Miller has avoided the jurisdiction of United States’
courts since September 2009.
II.

PROCEDURAL HISTORY
Kenneth Miller was charged by criminal complaint with aiding and abetting International

Parental Kidnapping in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1204 and 2 on November 18, 2011. He
voluntarily returned from Ireland, where he had been serving as a Mennonite missionary since
the summer of 2010, in order to address the charges, and was arrested on December 5, 2011, in
the District of Vermont. On December 15, 2011, the federal grand jury sitting in Burlington,
Vermont returned a one-count indictment alleging that “[f]rom on or about September 21, 2009
to on or about September 23, 2009, in the District of Vermont and elsewhere, defendant
KENNETH L. MILLER aided and abetted Lisa Miller in the removal of a child from the United
States with the intent to obstruct the lawful exercise of parental rights” in violation of 18 U.S.C.
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§§ 1204 and 2. On February 29, 2012, Kenneth Miller filed the pending motions to dismiss the
indictment. For the reasons set forth below, the Court should deny these motions.
III.

ARGUMENT
A. The Court Should Deny the Motion to Dismiss for Failure to State an Offense
Kenneth Miller first asks the Court to dismiss the indictment in this case claiming that it

fails to state an offense. According to Miller, the indictment does not properly allege that Miller
aided and abetted the international parental kidnapping of IMJ because 1) Lisa Miller had
parental rights to IMJ at the time of IMJ’s removal, and 2) Janet Jenkins did not have parental
rights to IMJ at that time. Miller argues that he cannot be guilty of aiding and abetting an
international parental kidnapping because no such crime occurred. The indictment, on its face,
alleges an offense; thus, Miller’s motion should be denied. Further, if the Court looks to the
evidence in the case, because Janet Jenkins held parental rights at the time Lisa Miller abducted
IMJ, and because Lisa Miller’s own parental rights to IMJ do not negate her criminal
responsibility for her actions, Kenneth Miller’s argument fails. His motion to dismiss for failure
to state an offense should be denied.
1. The Indictment Alleges an Offense
Miller files his motions under Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure 12(b)(3)(A) and (B),
alleging defects in the basis for the prosecution and defects in the indictment. Def. Mot. at 1.
Miller’s assertion that the indictment fails to state an offense fails. The indictment states that
“[f]rom in or about September 21, 2009 to on or about September 23, 2009, in the District of
Vermont and elsewhere, defendant KENNETH L. MILLER aided and abetted Lisa Miller in the
removal of a child from the United States with the intent to obstruct the lawful exercise of
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parental rights,” in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1204 and 18 U.S.C. § 2. By tracking the language of
the statute and designating the approximate times and places of the offense alleged, the
indictment satisfies the pleading requirements of Rule 7(c)(1). See United States v. LaSpina,
299 F.3d 165, 177 (2d Cir. 2002). Miller’s arguments in support of his motion suggest that he,
in fact, seeks not to challenge the face of the indictment, but to obtain a pretrial ruling on the
sufficiency of the evidence. Because Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 12(b) limits pretrial
challenges to indictments to those that “the court can determine without a trial of the general
issue,” such a pre-trial motion to review the evidence should be denied. The indictment is
sufficient; “it is not the Court’s role to second-guess the Grand Jury’s indictment at this stage of
the proceedings.” See United States v. Goodale, 2:11-cr-37-1, Docket No. 15, Opinion and
Order at 7 (D.Vt. November 28, 2011). Miller’s motion to dismiss the indictment for failure to
state an offense should fail. As explained below, even if the Court considers the underlying facts
of the case, the motion should be denied.
2. Janet Jenkins Held Parental Rights to IMJ
Title 18, United States Code, section 1204 prohibits the removal of a child from the
United States with the intent to obstruct the lawful exercise of parental rights. 18 U.S.C.
§ 1204(a) (hereinafter, the “International Parental Kidnapping Act” or “IPKA”). According to
the IPKA, “[t]he term ‘parental rights’ with respect to a child, means the right to physical
custody of the child– (A) whether joint or sole (and includes visitation rights), and (B) whether
arising by operation of law, court order, or legally binding agreement of the parties.” 18 U.S.C.
§ 1204(b)(2). As is clear from the text of the statute, where a court order is in place establishing
parental rights, a court does not need to review applicable state law to define those rights. See
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United States v. Fazal-ur-Raheman-Fazal, 255 F.3d 40, 45-56 (1st Cir. 2004) (noting necessity of
state law analysis where no court order was in place because parents were separated, but still
legally married, at time of kidnapping). Further, the statute protects the court-ordered parental
rights of all individuals, not only biological parents. See United States v. Alahmad, 211 F.3d
538, 540-41 (10th Cir. 2000) (upholding conviction of father who took child out of country
preventing maternal grandmother from exercising court-assigned parental rights).
This protection for state court custody determinations parallels Congress’s requirement
that states give each other’s custody orders full faith and credit. Under 28 U.S.C. § 1738A, titled
“Full Faith and Credit Given to Child Custody Determinations,” Congress requires states to
respect each other’s child custody determinations when those determinations are made by a court
with appropriate authority, and further assigns a court with initial responsibility for a child
custody matter to retain jurisdiction over that matter. See 28 U.S.C. § 1738A; see also MillerJenkins v. Miller-Jenkins, 276 Va. 19, 23 (2008) (upholding Virginal Appeals court decision
according full faith and credit to Vermont’s assignments of parental rights in dispute between
Lisa Miller and Janet Jenkins). Kenneth Miller attempts to create a choice of law question
where none exists by citing cases involving the Hague Convention’s civil mechanism for
recovering children removed to other countries. Def. Br. at 8. The discussion of “habitual
residence” in these cases, however, is designed to analyze the international dispute over a child’s
country of residence, and thus, whether the international civil mechanism for return is
appropriate; it does not create a basis for generating interstate conflict over established child
custody determinations. See, e.g. Whiting v. Krassner, 391 F.3d 540 (3d Cir. 2004) (considering
“habitual residence” to determine whether child resided in Canada or the United States); Feder v.
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Evans-Feder, 63 F.3d 217, 222 (3d Cir. 1995) (same, Australia or the United States); see also
United States v. Amer, 110 F.3d 873 (2d Cir. 1997) (same, New York (United States) or Egypt).
In this case, the Rutland, Vermont Family Court’s orders define the applicable parental
rights of both Lisa Miller and Janet Jenkins. In November 2003, Lisa Miller submitted to the
jurisdiction of the Rutland Family Court by filing for dissolution of her civil union with Janet
Jenkins in that forum; parental rights to IMJ, the child born during the union, was one of the
issues before the court as part of the dissolution of the union. See Complt. For Civil Union
Dissolution, Notice of Appearance, and Affidavit of Child Custody, Rutland, Vermont, Family
Court, Docket No. 454-11-03, Nov. 24, 2003. As early as June 2004, the family court issued an
order providing Janet Jenkins with visitation rights. See Temporary Order Re: Parental Rights
and Responsibilities, Rutland Family Court, Docket No. F454-11-03, June 17, 2004. Although
she repeatedly denied Janet Jenkins her court-ordered access, Lisa Miller was well aware of the
visitation orders. In August 2009, just one month before she unlawfully removed IMJ from the
United States, Lisa Miller submitted a lengthy affidavit to the court explaining why she felt IMJ
should not be allowed to visit Janet Jenkins and why she strongly objected to the possibility that
because of her failure to honor Janet Jenkins’s parental rights, the court might transfer primary
custody of IMJ to Jenkins. See Affidavit of Lisa Miller in Opposition to Defendant’s Motion to
Modify Parental Rights and Responsibilities, Rutland Family Court, Docket No. 454-11-03
(August 11, 2009). The court ultimately did transfer primary physical and legal custody of IMJ
to Jenkins following Lisa Miller’s removal of the child to Nicaragua. See Findings of Fact,
Conclusions of Law, and Order, Rutland Family Court, Docket No. 454-11-03, Nov. 20, 2009.
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In light of these court orders, under the IPKA, there is no need to look to state law or for
binding agreements of the parties to define parental rights in this case. See United States v.
Fazal-ur-Raheman-Fazal, 255 F.3d at 45-56. At the time Lisa Miller kidnapped IMJ in
September 2009, Janet Jenkins had parental rights. See 18 U.S.C. § 1204(b)(2) (visitation rights
included as parental rights); United States v. Miller, 626 F.3d 682, 688, 690 (2d Cir.
2010)(finding visitation rights were parental rights under IPKA). Those rights had to be honored
by other states, including Virginia. See 18 U.S.C. §1783A (full faith and credit given to child
custody determinations); see, e.g., Miller-Jenkins v. Miller-Jenkins, 276 Va. at 23. Jenkins’s
parental rights were expanded in November 2009 when Miller’s abduction of IMJ was
discovered. Lisa Miller’s removal of her child also anticipated this transfer of custody and
strove to frustrate it. Because Janet Jenkins had visitation rights – parental rights under the
IPKA – at the time Lisa Miller took IMJ to Nicaragua, Lisa Miller’s removal of IMJ from the
United States in 2009 violated Janet Jenkins’s parental rights. Further, Lisa Miller’s removal of
IMJ also frustrated the anticipated transfer of primary physical and legal custody from Lisa
Miller to Jenkins, again violating Jenkins’s parental rights. Kenneth Miller’s assertion that
Janet Jenkins had no parental rights over IMJ in Virginia is incorrect. Def. Br. at 7. Janet
Jenkins had parental rights to IMJ throughout the United States at the time of Lisa Miller’s
departure; rights Lisa Miller knew would expand when she took IMJ away.
3. Lisa Miller’s Parental Rights do not Negate her Crime
Kenneth Miller suggests that somehow because Lisa Miller had her own parental rights
to IMJ, and in fact had primary physical custody of IMJ in September 2009, that she could not
have violated the IPKA by removing IMJ from the United States, even if such a removal violated
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Janet Jenkins’s parental rights. As the appellate courts have made clear, however, the rights of
the removing parent do not defend against a violation of the IPKA.1
In United States v. Miller, the Second Circuit upheld a decision from this Court finding a
mother, who had primary custody of the child, guilty of international parental kidnapping
because the removal of the child violated the father’s parental rights, rights to limited, supervised
visitation. 626 F.3d at 685-86. The Circuit Court found the mother’s own rights, and the fact
that she had appealed the order establishing the father’s rights, irrelevant to the determination of
whether or not her removal of the child had served to cut off the father’s access to the child. Id.
at 689. The majority of the Court instead found the mother’s knowledge of the visitation rights
at the time she took the child sufficient to demonstrate that she intended to obstruct those rights
through the child’s removal from the United States.2 Id. at 691.
Likewise, in United States v. Fazal-ur-Raheman-Fazal, the First Circuit found that a
father’s own right to custody of the children he shared with the wife from whom he was
separated but not divorced did not negate his guilt for international parental kidnapping. 355
F.3d at 47. The court found both the statute’s language and its application “straightforward: so

1

The trial evidence will show that Lisa Miller anticipated that her repeated contempts of
the Vermont court’s orders would result in her loss of primary physical custody of IMJ. Thus, by
taking IMJ from the United States she could not only frustrate the current visitation orders, but
could also prevent the anticipated transfer of primary custody from Lisa Miller to Janet Jenkins.
2

While Kenneth Miller does not dispute that Lisa Miller’s removal of the child was
intended to obstruct Jenkins’s exercise of lawful parental rights, the timing of Lisa Miller’s
actions, during a period when the Rutland Family court had made clear that if Lisa Miller did not
allow Jenkins’s visitation that the court would transfer primary physical and legal custody of IMJ
to Jenkins, strongly supports the conclusion that Lisa Miller’s goal in removing the child was to
continue to frustrate the current visitation orders and prevent any transfer of primary custody
from Miller to Jenkins. As in Miller, Lisa Miller’s intent may be inferred from her knowledge of
the court’s orders and the circumstances surrounding her departure.
-9-
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long as [one parent] had ‘parental rights’– a term encompassing even mere visitation rights- [the
other parent] was not permitted to take the children outside the United States with the intent to
obstruct those rights.” Id.
Ignorance of the law is also no defense. In Fazal-Ur-Raheman-Fazal, the removing
parent argued that he could not be convicted of international parental kidnapping because his
actions did not violate Massachusetts law, and because he was not aware that they violated
federal law. Id. The First Circuit quickly dismissed this argument, explaining that it did not
matter if the defendant’s actions were legal in a particular state or if the defendant was
“confused about Congress’s authority to prohibit conduct not proscribed by state law;” removing
a child from the United States in violation of parental rights violates the IPKA. Id.; see also
United States v. Sardana, 2004 WL 1340298 (2d Cir. June 16, 2004) (unpublished)(finding no
requirement that defendant knew his acts were unlawful and no defense that defendant believed
his acts were legal).
In this case, Lisa Miller’s parental rights at the time she removed IMJ from the United
States are no defense to her violation of the IPKA. Her actions intentionally deprived Janet
Jenkins of Jenkins’s parental rights. Describing Miller’s removal of her daughter, and Kenneth
Miller’s role in aiding and abetting that removal, the indictment properly states an offense.3 The

3

Kenneth Miller suggests that Janet Jenkins should have visited IMJ in Nicaragua or
could have obtained an order preventing Lisa Miller from taking the child to Nicaragua if she did
not wish her to go. Def. Mot. ¶ 18. In addition to ignoring the facts that Lisa Miller did not tell
Janet Jenkins or the family court of her plan to remove the child to Nicaragua, that Lisa Miller
intentionally avoided flying out of or through the United States in order to make her removal
more difficult to track, that Lisa Miller and her daughter dressed as Mennonites during and after
their travel, that they took false names once in Nicaragua, and that Lisa Miller made no effort to
inform Janet Jenkins or the Rutland Family Court of her location once she took the child to
Nicaragua, this argument fails to raise a valid issue. The IPKA imposes no obligation on the
- 10 -

Case 2:11-cr-00161-wks Document 24

Filed 03/14/12 Page 11 of 22

Court should deny Miller’s motion to dismiss for failure to state an offense.
B. The Court Should Deny the Motion to Dismiss for Improper Venue
Kenneth Miller next seeks to dismiss the indictment claiming that it fails to properly
assert venue. Because the indictment alleges venue and because venue, as asserted, is proper in
the District of Vermont, the Court should deny Miller’s motion to dismiss for lack of venue.
1. The Indictment Alleges Venue
So long as an indictment alleges venue, a court should not dismiss for lack of venue
before receiving evidence in the case. See United States v. Engle, ___ F.3d ___, 2012 WL
641031, at *3 (4th Cir. 2012); United States v. Perez, 280 F.3d 318, 327 (3d Cir. 2002). If
material issues of fact regarding venue remain after the evidence is presented at trial, the court
should submit the question of venue to the jury for determination under a preponderance of the
evidence standard. See United States v. Rommy, 506 F.3d 108, 118-19 (2d Cir. 2007)(finding
“venue requirement . . . is not an element of a crime so as to require proof beyond a reasonable
doubt; rather, venue need be proved only by a preponderance of the evidence,” and declining in
footnote to resolve question of whether venue should be submitted to jury if facts are not in
dispute); United States v. Gillette, 189 F.2d 449, 452 (2d Cir. 1951) (finding venue is a question
of fact ordinarily submitted to the jury); Engle, 2012 WL 641031, at *3 (finding court should
submit venue question to jury if alleged in indictment, but factual questions about venue remain
at conclusion of evidence); Perez, 280 F.3d at 327-31 (finding preponderance standard applies to
venue and that question should be submitted to jury where material fact is in dispute).

holder of the frustrated parental rights to take any particular steps to anticipate the removing
parent’s crime or to attempt to contact the removing parent after the crime in order for
prosecution to be valid.
- 11 -
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In this case, the indictment, which clearly states that the alleged conduct occurred “in the
District of Vermont and elsewhere,” properly alleges venue in Vermont. The Court should not,
therefore, dismiss the indictment for lack of venue at this stage. If material facts related to this
allegation remain in dispute after evidence is submitted at trial, the court should submit the
question of venue to the jury for determination under the preponderance of the evidence
standard. In this case, the evidence submitted will establish that venue is proper in the District of
Vermont.
2. Venue is Proper in The District of Vermont
Venue is both a constitutional and a statutory issue. See United States v. Royer, 549
F.3d 886, 893 (2d Cir. 2008). While not an element of the offense, it must be established by the
government by a preponderance of the evidence. See United States v. Ramirez, 420 F.3d 134,
139 (2d Cir. 2005). In general, venue lies in the district in which a crime is committed. Fed. R.
Cr. P. 18. For aiding and abetting offenses, venue is proper where the defendant acted or where
the underlying crime occurred. See United States v. Smith, 198 F.3d 377, 383 (2d Cir. 1999). If
a statute does not provide clear instructions on how to determine venue, the Court must look for
the “locus delicti” of the offense, determining the appropriate venue from the “nature of the
crime alleged and the location of the act or acts constituting it.” Id. at 138; see also United
States v. Cashin, 281 F.2d 669, 673 (2d Cir. 1960) (focusing on the “gist” of the crime). By
statute, where an offense extends across several districts, it may be prosecuted in any district in
which it was begun, continued or completed. 18 U.S.C. § 3237(a); Royer, 549 F.3d at 893.
Where the essential nature of the crime occurs outside the United States, 18 U.S.C. § 3238
provides for venue in the district where the offender is arrested or to which the offender is first
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brought, or, in the absence of an arrest, in the district of the last known residence of the offender.
18 U.S.C. § 3238. In this case, the Government will argue in the alternative that, to the extent
the offense is a continuing offense, venue based on the essential elements of the offense is proper
in Vermont and, to the extent the essential nature of the offense arises outside the United States,
venue is proper in Vermont as the district of arrest.
a. Vermont is the Appropriate Venue under 18 U.S.C. § 3237
The Second Circuit provides a two-step process for analyzing venue. First, the Court
must determine what statute governs the establishment of venue, asking specifically if this is a
continuing offense that falls under 18 U.S.C. § 3237(a); second, the fact finder must determine if
there are “substantial contacts” between the crime and the prosecuting district. See United States
v. Saaveda, 223 F.3d 85, 92 (2d Cir. 2000); United States v. Fell, 2005 WL 1026599, at *1
(D.Vt. April 22, 2005) (unpublished). While the Supreme Court has noted the “interpretive
value” of the so-called “verb test” (looking to the actions described in the statute governing the
offense and the locations in which those actions took place to determine venue), it has cautioned
that the “verb test” is not exclusive and may “unduly limit[ ] the inquiry into the nature of the
offense. . .creat[ing] a danger that certain conduct prohibited by the statute will be missed.” See
United States v. Rodriguez-Moreno, 526 U.S. 275, 280 (1999). “[T]here is no single defined
policy or mechanical test to determine constitutional venue. Rather, the test is best described as
a substantial contacts rule that takes into account a number of factors – the site of the defendant’s
acts, the elements and nature of the crime, the locus of the effect of the criminal conduct, and the
suitability of each district for accurate fact finding.” Royer, 549 F.3d at 893 (quoting United
States v. Reed, 773 F.2d 477, 481 (2d Cir. 1985)). While the Supreme Court has described this
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review as looking for the “essential conduct elements” of an offense, conduct is not the only
factor in determining venue. Id. In fact, the Second Circuit has explained that the “crucial
distinction” arising from the Supreme Court’s analysis in Rodriguez-Moreno and its previous
decision in Cabrales is “not between an ‘essential conduct element’ and an ‘essential element’”
but between “an ‘essential element’ and a ‘circumstantial element.’” Saaveda, 223 F.3d at 92.4
The Second Circuit has followed this emphasis on finding venue where any essential
element of a crime occurs in recent decisions. In Royer, for instance, the defendant was
convicted of racketeering conspiracy, securities fraud conspiracy, and extortion conspiracy, as
well as substantive offenses, based on a scheme to use wrongly obtained information from a FBI
white collar crime agent to short sell securities for a profit. The defendant, based in San Diego,
challenged venue in the Eastern District of New York, a district in which he was not present
during the crime. See Royer, 549 F.3d at 890-91. The Second Circuit found, for the securities
fraud conspiracy, that the fact that the FBI agent who had provided the securities information
lied to cover up the scheme during an interview in the Eastern District of New York was
sufficient to provide venue in the Eastern District of New York, because the purpose of the false
statements had been to obstruct a grand jury investigation there. See id. at 896.
In Saaveda, the defendant, a member of the Latin Kings, was convicted of conspiracy

4

The “essential conduct element” language arose in the Supreme Court’s decision in
Rodriguez-Moreno in which the Court held that venue in New Jersey was appropriate for a
charge of using a firearm during and in relation to a crime of violence where the defendant had
kidnapped an individual and traveled through New Jersey among other states, but had only used
the firearm in connection with the kidnapping in Maryland. Rodriguez-Moreno, 526 U.S. at
279-81. While the “essential conduct” language appeared to emphasize venue in which the
defendant took a physical action, in approving venue in New Jersey, the Court held that the
“during and in relation to a crime of violence” element, an element not specifically describing
any particular act, provided the “essential conduct” that authorized New Jersey venue. Id.
- 14 -
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and attempting to commit an assault in aid of racketeering based on a planned assault that was
conceived and attempted in the Eastern District of New York. See Saaveda, 223 F.3d at 85-86.
Considering the defendant’s challenge to venue in the Southern District of New York, the Court
found that because the Latin Kings are based in the Southern District of New York and because
the purpose of the assault- required by statute- was to maintain or improve status within that
organization, venue in the Southern District of New York was appropriate. Id. at 92-93.
Specifically, the Second Circuit found that the purpose of maintaining or increasing status in the
organization was an essential rather than a circumstantial element of the charged offense. See id.
at 89-90. The Court noted that absent such a purpose, the defendant would have been guilty only
of simple assault – not the charged federal crime. See id. at 92. Examining the “substantial
contacts” under Reed, the Court found that the elements and nature of the crime, the effect of the
crime, and fact-finding ability all supported venue in the Southern District of New York, even
though all of the actual conduct occurred in the Eastern District of New York. Id. at 93.
In contrast to the Second Circuit’s substantial contacts based approach, the Fifth Circuit
stated that venue for an international parental kidnapping would be appropriate only in the
district involved in the act of removing the child. See United States v. Clenney, 434 F.3d 780,
781-82 (5th Cir. 2005). Rejecting the idea that the district in which the parental rights arose
could be the appropriate venue, the Fifth Circuit explained that the “intent to obstruct the lawful
exercise of parental rights” was not a conduct element but a mens rea requirement. Id. at 782.
At best, the Court explained, the mens rea was formed where the defendant developed the intent
to frustrate the parental rights; not where the rights about which the defendant was thinking
arose. Id. Thus, the court found venue in the district from which the rights arose was improper
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and reversed the conviction. Id. The Fifth Circuit’s non-binding decision, however, should not
guide the determination of venue in this case. By focusing exclusively on the need for a
“conduct element” to support venue, the Clenney court “unduly limited the inquiry into the
nature of the offense” and missed “conduct prohibited by the statute” as the Supreme Court
warned it might. See United States v. Rodriguez-Moreno, 526 U.S. at 280. Its action-based
tunnel vision risks absurd outcomes when applied to international parental kidnapping cases such
as this: Under Clenney, venue would presumably be appropriately in any state through which the
removing parent traveled in order to take the child from the country, even though those states
were not home to the child, any individual with parental rights, or the court determining the child
custody issues, while the state in which the child custody dispute was centered and the victim
parent was left behind would be denied venue.5 While a “verb test” may have some interpretive
value, see id., it fails to offer the complete, logical insights into proper venue of the Second
Circuit’s substantial contacts test, see Royer, 549 F.3d at 893.
As applied to this case, the essential element/substantial contacts analysis supports venue
in Vermont. 18 U.S.C. § 1204 prohibits the removal of a child from the United States with the
intent to obstruct the lawful exercise of parental rights. The offense is a continuing offense,
continuing at least throughout the removal of the child from the United States, or, like traditional
kidnapping, until return of the child. See Rodriguez-Moreno, 526 U.S. at 281; Fell, 2005 WL

5

Notably, because Clenney arose out of Texas, the kidnapping parent was able to remove
the child from the United States to Mexico without passing through any other states. Further, in
Clenney, while the court considered, and rejected, the victim parent’s claim that the district in
which she and her child resided, and thus the district in which she felt the impact of the
kidnapping, should be the district in which the case was brought, it did not consider the question
of whether the district in which the family court establishing the parental rights over the child
would have venue for the prosecution.
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1026599, at *1 (discussing kidnapping as continuing offense). Venue for aiding and abetting
international parental kidnapping could thus be prosecuted in any district in which venue would
lie for prosecution of the underlying offense. See United States v. Smith, 198 F.3d at 383. While
the “verb test” would presumably provide venue to states involved in the removal whether or not
they had any connection to the underlying dispute (here potentially including Maryland,
Pennsylvania, and New York, states through which Lisa Miller traveled on her way to Canada,
while excluding Vermont ), the more complete view of venue under the Second Circuit’s
substantial contacts test makes venue in Vermont clear.
Kenneth Miller is charged with aiding and abetting international parental kidnapping.
The elements of the offense are 1) Kenneth Miller knew that the crime charged (removing the
child from the country in order to obstruct parental rights) was to be committed or was being
committed; 2) Kenneth Miller knowingly did some act for the purpose of aiding/encouraging
the commission of that crime; 3) Ken Miller acted with the intention of causing the charged
crime to be committed; and 4) Lisa Miller committed the charged crime (meaning (a) the child
was previously in the United States; (b) Lisa Miller took the child from the United States to
another country; and (c) Lisa Miller acted with the intent to obstruct the lawful parental rights of
Janet Jenkins. See 1A Kevin F. O’Malley, Jay E. Grenig, Hon. William C. Lee, Fed. Jury
Practice and Instrs., § 18:01 (6th ed. 2012); 2-42 Modern Fed. Jury Instr.- Cr., ¶ 42.03 (Matthew
Bender). The “essential elements” of the crime took place in Vermont. In this case, Lisa Miller
began child custody litigation in the Vermont courts and she and IMJ became present in
Vermont as parties to Vermont litigation from 2003 until 2009. The essential element of the
parental kidnapping is Lisa Miller’s removal of IMJ as a Vermont party. The “verb” in the
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parental kidnapping statute is “removes.” The removal that is most significant in this case is the
removal of IMJ from the jurisdiction of the Vermont court, not the driving over the bridge from
the Western District of New York to Canada. In essence, the conduct of removing IMJ from the
Vermont Court as a participating party is the gist of the crime, which took place in Vermont.
The Second Circuit’s decision in Ramirez, on which Miller relies, does not compel a
different conclusion. There, the court of appeals held that venue for a mail fraud charge was not
proper in the district where the defendant “devised” the scheme to defraud. Under the mail fraud
statute, the locus deliciti is the district of mailing, not the districts in which the defendant thought
about or contemplated the scheme. “The view that a fraudulent scheme is not itself proscribed
conduct finds further support in the law of double jeopardy. It is well-established that each use of
the mail constitutes a separate offense of mail fraud.” 420 F.3d at 145. The Ramirez court also
wrote that “[u]nless this limitation were respected, a defendant who devised a scheme to defraud
while driving across the country could be prosecuted in virtually any venue through which he
passed.” Id. In essence, the court held that the government must charge mail fraud in the district
of mailing. This case involves an entirely different charge.
Here, the government is not asserting venue in a district where the defendant engaged in
the mens rea for the offense, the venue theory disapproved in Ramirez. Lisa Miller was not in
Vermont when she thought about taking IMJ out of the country. Rather the government is
asserting venue in the district that is the locus delicti of the offense. The essential conduct
criminalized by section 1204 is the removal of the child from the jurisdiction addressing IMJ’s
parental rights. Lisa Miller and Kenneth Miller’s conduct was aimed squarely at removing IMJ
as a party in Vermont litigation. This amounts to essential conduct in Vermont. No other district
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in the United States had more substantial contacts with the defendant’s conduct than Vermont.
Indeed, Vermont is the only district in the United States on which defendant’s conduct focused.
Thus, unlike the mail fraud statute, which focuses on specific mailings in a particular district, the
district in the United States on which section 1204 focuses is the district where IMJ was a party
for decisions about parental rights and from which IMJ was removed by the international flight.6
Lisa Miller’s removal of IMJ from the United States was the removal of IMJ from control
by the Vermont court – in essence, taking her out of Vermont. Thus, the most essential nature of
the crime – that it is intended to frustrate parental rights – supports venue in Vermont, the state
which has defined the parental rights of the parties and the state in which the impact of the
extinguishment of those rights is felt. The court that issued the disregarded custody order is in
Vermont. The victim parent resides in Vermont. Only in Vermont is any holder of parental
rights feeling the impact of Lisa Miller’s crime. Additionally, given the multi-state and
international nature of the offense, Vermont is as well positioned as any other state to collect
facts about the removal conduct while Vermont is better positioned than any other state to collect
facts regarding the underlying parental rights obstructed by the removal. See Royer, 549 F.3d at
893 (listing fact-finding ability as consideration for venue). Application the Second Circuit’s
substantial contacts analysis shows that venue is appropriate in the District of Vermont.

6

In addition to the international nature of the removal, Lisa Miller’s purpose in taking
IMJ distinguishes her offense from a simple kidnapping. Where in Saveeda, the defendant
attempted his assault for the purpose of gaining status in the Latin Kings, 223 F.3d at 92, Lisa
Miller removed IMJ from the United States for the purpose of leaving the jurisdiction of the
Vermont court. Just as the Second Circuit found Saveeda’s purpose was an essential element
creating venue in the Southern District of New York where the organization Saveeda strove to
impress was based, this Court should find that Lisa Miller's purpose to obstruct the Rutland
Family Court's orders provides venue in Vermont where that court sits. See id. at 89-90.
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Vermont is the Appropriate Venue under § 3238

To the extent that this Court or the jury do not find that the contacts with Vermont are
sufficient under section 3237, the evidence should be sufficient to establish venue under 18
U.S.C. § 3238. Section 3238 provides venue in the district to which an offender is first brought
or in which an offender is first arrested for offenses “begun or committed upon the high seas, or
elsewhere out of the jurisdiction of any particular State or district.” 18 U.S.C. § 3238. If the
locus delicti of the offense is not the District of Vermont, then the locus delicti of international
parental kidnapping should be viewed occurring outside the United States. After all, the removal
of the child cannot be accomplished anywhere in the United States.
As the Third Circuit recently concluded, section 3238 supports venue in any case in
which the “crux” of the offense was committed outside of any particular district. United States
v. Pendleton, ___ F.3d ___, 2011 WL 3907120, at *3 (3d Cir. September 7, 2011). Analyzing
the defendant’s violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2423(c) prohibiting traveling in foreign commerce and
engaging in illicit sexual conduct with another person, the Court noted that while the offense was
begun when the defendant departed from the United States, potentially allowing for venue under
18 U.S.C. § 3237 in the district from which the defendant departed, the most critical element of
the offense was the engaging in illicit sexual conduct, an element which took place entirely
outside the United States. See id. Thus, the court found that “[b]ecause [the defendant’s]
criminal conduct was essentially foreign,” venue was appropriate in the district of arrest.7 See

7

In United States v. Gilboe, the Second Circuit in dicta noted that 18 U.S.C. § 3238
“applies only to offenses ‘not committed in any district,’ as its title indicates.” 684 F.2d 235,
239 (2d Cir. 1982). In that case, however, the Court focused on the clear venue in the Southern
District of New York under 18 U.S.C. § 3237 to reject defendant’s venue challenge. Id. As
courts have since noted, the limited commentary on section 3238 provided by Gilboe’s dictum
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id. at *4.
Pendleton thus provides support for two venue principles. First, that statutory venue can
be provided by more than one statute – in essence, Congress can grant venue, if constitutional, in
a variety of ways. Second, section 3238 can provide venue even if a minor part of the offense
occurred in the United States – and thus there might be venue under 3237 in another district.
Third, for any crime where the gist or crux of the offense conduct takes place outside the United
States, the government can rely on section 3238.
The gist of the offense in this case was either in Vermont or outside the United States.
The indictment adequately alleges venue and under either 18 U.S.C. § 3237 or 18 U.S.C. § 3238,
the alleged Vermont venue is valid. Kenneth Miller’s motion to dismiss for improper venue
should be denied.
IV.

CONCLUSION
The indictment alleges an offense and proper venue. Lisa Miller violated the

international parental kidnapping act when she removed her daughter from the United States – as
a party in the Vermont courts – with the intent to obstruct Janet Jenkins’s lawful exercise of her
parental rights. When Kenneth Miller aided and abetted that removal he committed a crime.
Because the essential elements of the offense – the origin of the parental rights and the home of
the parent whose rights were frustrated is Vermont – support venue in Vermont and because
Vermont is as well equipped as any other district to conduct fact-finding in this multi-state and
international case, venue is appropriate in this District. For these reasons as set forth more

seemed to hinge on the title of the statute alone, and did not provide a reasoned analysis from
which to deny otherwise clear venue. See, e.g., United States v. Bin Laden, 146 F. Supp. 2d 373,
381 n.17 (S.D.N.Y. 2001).
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completely above, the Court should deny defendant Kenneth Miller’s motions to dismiss for
failure to state an offense and for improper venue.
Dated at Burlington, in the District of Vermont, this 14th day of March, 2012.
Respectfully submitted,
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
TRISTRAM J. COFFIN
United States Attorney
By:

/s/ Paul J. Van de Graaf
Paul J. Van de Graaf
First Assistant U.S. Attorney and
Criminal Chief
/s/ Eugenia A. P. Cowles
EUGENIA A. P. COWLES
Assistant U.S. Attorney
P.O. Box 570
Burlington VT 05402-0570
(802) 651-8224
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